IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
Supreme Court No. 18-1158

---

EERIEANNA GOOD and CAROL BEAL,  
Petitioners-Appellees,

vs.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,  
Respondent-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR POLK COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE ARTHUR E. GAMBLE, JUDGE

---

**APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF**

---

THOMAS J. MILLER  
Attorney General of Iowa

**MATTHEW K. GILLESPIE** AT0013513

[Matthew.Gillespie@ag.iowa.gov](mailto:Matthew.Gillespie@ag.iowa.gov)

Assistant Attorney General  
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-8330  
(515) 281-7219 (fax)

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT

## CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

### 1. Whether Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) Treats Transgender Medicaid Beneficiaries Differently from Similarly Situated Medicaid Beneficiaries.

#### Cases

*Bearinger v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 844 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2014)  
*Ludtke v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 62, 64-65 (Iowa 2002)  
*Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service*, 412 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1987)  
*Smith v. Rasmussen*, 57 F. Supp. 2d 736, 744 (N.D. Iowa 1999)  
*Smith v. Rasmussen*, 249 F.3d 755, 760 (8th Cir. 2001)  
*State v. Mitchell*, 757 N.W.2d 431, 436 (Iowa 2008)  
*Tyler v. Iowa Dept. of Rev.*, 904 N.W.2d 162, 166 (Iowa 2017)  
*Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 878 (Iowa 2009)

#### Statutes and Rules

Iowa Admin. Code r.441-75  
Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1  
Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4)  
Iowa Code § 17A.19  
Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA)  
Iowa Constitution

#### Other Citations

American Psychiatric Association's Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-5th edition

*What is Depression?*, American Psychiatric Association, available at <https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/depression/what-is-depression> (last visited August 3, 2018)

*What Are Dissociative Disorders?*, American Psychiatric Association, available at <https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/dissociative-disorders/what-are-dissociative-disorders> (last visited August 3, 2018)

*What is PTSD?*, American Psychiatric Association, available at <https://www.psychiatry.org/patients-families/ptsd/what-is-ptsd> (last visited August 3, 2018)



*Body dysmorphic disorder*, Mayo Clinic, available at <https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/body-dysmorphic-disorder/symptoms-causes/syc-20353938> (last visited August 3, 2018)

Merriam-Webster, Inc., “Merriam-Webster Dictionary: ‘Purpose’ Definition,” available at <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/purpose> (last visited August 3, 2018) (“something set up as an object or end to be attained”)

Oxford University Press, “English Oxford Living Dictionaries: ‘Purpose’ Definition,” available at <https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/purpose> (last visited August 3, 2018)

WPATH, *Standards of Care for the Health of Transsexual, Transgender, and Gender Nonconforming People*, at 54, available at [http://www.wpath.org/site\\_page.cfm?pk\\_association\\_webpage\\_menu=1351&pk\\_association\\_webpage=3926](http://www.wpath.org/site_page.cfm?pk_association_webpage_menu=1351&pk_association_webpage=3926) (last visited August 3, 2018)

## **2. Whether the Department of Human Services is a “Public Accommodation” Under the Iowa Civil Rights Act When it Makes Benefits Determinations Under Iowa Medicaid.**

### **Cases**

*Goreham v. Des Moines Metro. Area Solid Waste Auth.*, 179 N.W.2d 449 (Iowa 1970)

*Pippen v. State*, 854 N.W.2d 1, 18 (Iowa 2014)

*State ex rel. Claypool v. Evans*, 757 N.W.2d 166 (Iowa 2008)

*State v. Pettijohn*, 899 N.W.2d 1, 16 (Iowa 2017)

*State v. Richardson*, 890 N.W.2d 609, 619 (Iowa 2017)

*State Pub. Defender v. Iowa Dist. Ct. for Black Hawk Cnty.*, 633 N.W.2d 280, 283 (Iowa 2001)

*U.S. Jaycees v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 427 N.W.2d 450, 454 (Iowa 1988)

*Varnum v. Brien*, 763 N.W.2d 862, 878 (Iowa 2009)

*Warford v. Des Moines Metro. Transit Auth.*, 381 N.W.2d 622, 624 (Iowa 1986)

*Wilson v. Nepstad*, 282 N.W.2d 664, 668 (Iowa 1979)

### **Statutes and Rules**

Iowa Code § 216.2(4)

Iowa Code § 216.2(13)

Iowa Code § 216.7(1)

Iowa Code § 670.1(2)

Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA)

Iowa Constitution

1994 Ia. Legis. Serv. 1023  
20 U.S.C. § 2000a  
14 C.J.S. Civil Rights § 86

### **Other Citations**

Merriam-Webster, Inc., “Merriam-Webster Dictionary: ‘District’ Definition,” *available at* <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/district> (last visited August 3, 2018)

Oxford University Press, “English Oxford Living Dictionaries: ‘Unit’ Definition,” *available at* <https://en.oxforddictionaries.com/definition/unit> (last visited Feb. 26, 2018)

### **3. Whether Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) Runs Afoul of the Iowa Constitution’s Equal Protection Provisions By Restricting Surgeries Performed Primarily for Psychological Purposes.**

### **Cases**

*Ass’n of Residential Res. in Minnesota, Inc. v. Gomez*, 51 F.3d 137, 141 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1995)

*Dandridge v. Williams*, 397 U.S. 471, 485, 90 S.Ct. 1153, 1161,

25 L.Ed.2d 491 (1970). 354 F.Supp. at 45)

*Ellis v. Patterson*, 859 F.2d 52, 55 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988)

*Geduldig v. Aiello*, 417 U.S. 484, 495, 94 S.Ct. 2485, 2491, 41 L.Ed.2d 256 (1974)

*Guttman v. Khalsa*, 669 F.3d 1101, 1123 (2012)

*Kantrowitz v. Weinberger*, 388 F. Supp. 1127, 1130 (D.D.C. 1974)

*Maher v. Roe*, 432 U.S. 464, 479, 97 S. Ct. 2376, 2385, 53 L. Ed. 2d 484 (1977)

*Residential and Agric. Advisory Comm., LLC v. Dyersville City Council*,  
888 N.W.2d 24, 50 (Iowa 2016)

*Shapiro v. Thompson*, 394 U.S. 618, 633 (1969)

*Smith v. Rasmussen*, 249 F.3d 755, 760 (8<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)

*Tyler v. Iowa Dept. of Rev.*, 904 N.W.2d 162, 166 (Iowa 2017)

*Williamson v. Lee Optical Co.*, 348 U.S. 483, 489, 75 S.Ct. 461, 99 L.Ed. 563 (1955)

### **Statutes and Rules**

Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4)

Iowa Code § 216.7(1)

Iowa Code § 249A.4

Iowa Code § 280.28

Iowa Code § 729A.2

Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA)

Iowa Constitution

### **Other Citations**

Resolution No. 1004, American Academy of Family Physicians, available at [https://www.aafp.org/dam/AAFP/documents/about\\_us/special\\_constituencies/2012RCAR\\_Advocacy.pdf](https://www.aafp.org/dam/AAFP/documents/about_us/special_constituencies/2012RCAR_Advocacy.pdf) (last visited August 7, 2018)

WPATH, *Standards of Care for the Health of Transsexual, Transgender, and Gender Nonconforming People*, at 54, available at [http://www.wpath.org/site\\_page.cfm?pk\\_association\\_webpage\\_menu=1351&pk\\_association\\_webpage=3926](http://www.wpath.org/site_page.cfm?pk_association_webpage_menu=1351&pk_association_webpage=3926) (last visited August 3, 2018)

#### **4. Whether Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) Has a Disproportionate Negative Impact on Private Rights Under Iowa Code § 17A.19.**

##### **Cases**

*Bearinger v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 844 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2014)

*Ludtke v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 62, 64-65 (Iowa 2002)

*Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service*, 412 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1987)

*Tyler v. Iowa Dept. of Rev.*, 904 N.W.2d 162, 166 (Iowa 2017)

##### **Statutes and Rules**

Iowa Code § 17A.19

Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA)

Iowa Constitution

#### **5. Whether Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) is a Reasonable Measure to Limit Surgeries Performed Primarily for Psychological Purposes and Curb Costs.**

##### **Cases**

*Bearinger v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 844 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2014)

*Ludtke v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 62, 64-65 (Iowa 2002)

*Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service*, 412 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1987)

*Smith v. Rasmussen*, 57 F. Supp. 2d 736, 744 (N.D. Iowa 1999)

*Smith v. Rasmussen*, 249 F.3d 755, 760 (8th Cir. 2001)

*City of Sioux City v. Iowa Dep't of Rev. & Fin.*, 666 N.W.2d 587, 590 (Iowa 2003)

*Soo Line R.R. Co v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 521 N.W.2d 685 (Iowa 1994)

*Jasper v. H. Nizam, Inc.*, 764 N.W.2d 751, 764 (Iowa 2009)

##### **Statutes and Rules**

Iowa Admin. Proc. Act

Iowa Code § 17A.19  
Iowa Civil Rights Act (ICRA)  
Iowa Constitution

**Other Citations**

WPATH, *Standards of Care for the Health of Transsexual, Transgender, and Gender Nonconforming People*, at 54, available at [http://www.wpath.org/site\\_page.cfm?pk\\_association\\_webpage\\_menu=1351&pk\\_association\\_webpage=3926](http://www.wpath.org/site_page.cfm?pk_association_webpage_menu=1351&pk_association_webpage=3926) (last visited August 3, 2018)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court as it (i) presents substantial constitutional questions as to the validity of an administrative rule; (ii) presents substantial issues of first impression; and (iii) presents substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(a), (c), (f).

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case is a proceeding from a judicial review of an administrative agency action under the Iowa Administrative Procedure Act, Iowa Code § 17A.19. Plaintiffs claim the Iowa Department of Human Services (the “Department”) erred in denying coverage for sex reassignment surgeries to Eerieanna Good and Carol Beal (the “Petitioners”) pursuant to Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) (the “Rule”).

On March 3, 2017, Ms. Good, one of the Petitioners, filed an appeal from a decision denying her request for coverage for an orchiectomy. (App’x. Vol. II at 362). On March 31, 2017, Ms. Good’s managed care organization (“MCO”) denied Ms. Good’s appeal due to the exclusion of coverage of “procedures related to transsexualism...[and] gender identity disorders” under the Rule. (App’x. Vol. II at 354). Ms. Good then filed an appeal with the Department. (App’x. Vol. II at 375).

Following a contested case proceeding on July 11, 2017, the administrative law judge issued a Proposed Decision on July 25, 2017 affirming the Department's denial of coverage. (App'x. Vol. II at 138). The ALJ's Proposed Decision was affirmed by the Director of the Department on August 25, 2017. (App'x. Vol. II at 69). Ms. Good then filed a Petition for Judicial Review. (App'x. Vol. I at 5).

On July 20, 2017, Ms. Beal, the second Petitioner, filed an appeal from a decision denying her request for coverage for several surgical procedures: a vaginoplasty, a penectomy, a bilateral orchiectomy, a clitoroplasty, a urethraplasty, a labiaplasty, and a perineoplasty. (App'x. Vol. II at 674). On August 14, 2017, Ms. Beal's MCO denied Ms. Beal's appeal due to the exclusion under the Rule. (App'x. Vol. II at 654). Ms. Beal then filed an appeal with the Department. (App'x. Vol. II at 755).

After a contested case hearing, an ALJ issued a Proposed Decision on October 17, 2017 affirming the Department's denial of coverage. (App'x. Vol. II at 537). In his Proposed Decision, the ALJ concluded that, *inter alia*, "the Department correctly point[ed] out that" the Iowa Civil Rights Act ("ICRA") appeared to exclude entitlement programs like Medicaid from its purview. (App'x. Vol. II at 541). The ALJ's Proposed Decision was affirmed by the Director of the Department on November 17, 2018. (App'x. Vol. II at 443). There, the Director concluded that the ICRA "makes clear that Iowa Medicaid was not in-

tended to fall within the scope of [Iowa Code § 216.7(1)].” (App’x. Vol. II at 445). Ms. Beal then filed a Petition for Judicial Review. (App’x. Vol. I at 93).

Ms. Good and Ms. Beal consolidated their cases before the district court. Petitioners have challenged the constitutionality and legality of the Rule under the Iowa Constitution’s Equal Protection guarantee, the Iowa Civil Rights Act, and independent grounds under Iowa Code § 17A.19. Lacking jurisdiction, the Department abstained from ruling on both Petitioners’ constitutional claims at the administrative appeal stage. *See Soo Line R.R. Co. v. Iowa Dep’t. of Transp.*, 521 N.W.2d 685, 688 (Iowa 1994). After briefing on the merits, the district court ruled in favor of the Petitioners on four of five grounds. (App’x. Vol. I at 276). This appeal followed.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Ms. Good is a 28-year-old transgender woman. (App’x. Vol. II at 105). She is a Medicaid recipient and has been prescribed hormone therapy medication for her gender dysphoria since 2014. (App’x. Vol. II at 113 ¶ 7). At all times relevant to this action, Ms. Good’s Medicaid services were managed by an MCO, AmeriHealth Caritas. (App’x. Vol. II at 285).

Ms. Beal is a 42-year-old transgender woman. (App’x. Vol. II at 506). She is a Medicaid recipient and has been prescribed hormone therapy medication for her gender dysphoria since 1989. (App’x. Vol. II at 532 ¶ 5). She is seeking approval for multiple surgeries as part of her treatment: vaginoplasty, penectomy,

bilateral orchiectomy, clitoroplasty, urethroplasty, labiaplasty, and perineoplasty. (App’x. Vol. I at 96 ¶ 3).

## ARGUMENT

### I. Background

Medicaid (also known as “medical assistance” or the “medical assistance program”) is a cooperative state and federal aid program that helps states provide medical assistance to the poor. *Lankford v. Sherman*, 451 F.3d 496, 504 (8th Cir. 2006); see Iowa Code § 249A.2(3), (6), (7), (10). State participation in Medicaid is voluntary and includes both mandatory and optional service coverage, but states that elect to participate must follow the federal government’s statutory and regulatory framework. The Medicaid Act “confers broad discretion on the States to adopt standards for determining the extent of medical assistance, requiring only that such standards be ‘reasonable’ and ‘consistent with the objectives’ of the Act.” *Beal v. Doe*, 432 U.S. 438, 441, 97 S. Ct. 2366 (1977) (quoting 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17)).

Medicaid programs do not guarantee that each recipient will receive that level of health care precisely tailored to his or her particular needs. Instead, the benefit provided through Medicaid is a particular package of health care services...[that] has the general aim of assuring that individuals will receive necessary medical care, but the benefit provided remains the individual services offered—not “adequate health care.”

*Alexander v. Choate*, 469 U.S. 287, 303, 105 S. Ct. 712, 721 (1985).



Iowa Medicaid generally covers medically necessary services provided by physicians. Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1. Prior to 1979, the Department had an unwritten policy of excluding sex reassignment surgeries from covered physician services based on existing exclusions and limitations for “cosmetic surgery” and “mental diseases.” *Pinneke v. Preisser*, 623 F.2d 546, 549-50 (8th Cir. 1980). In 1980, this policy was challenged and considered by the Eighth Circuit. *Id.*; (App’x. Vol. II at 281). The court in *Pinneke* struck down the Department’s policy due, at least in part, to the Department’s failure to: engage in formal rulemaking, consult medical professionals in the development of the policy, and consider the prevailing knowledge of the medical community. *Id.*; *Smith v. Rasmussen*, 249 F.3d 755, 760 (8th Cir. 2001) (“*Rasmussen II*”).

In 1994, the Department *clarified* its rule excluding surgery performed for primarily psychological purposes to specify that sex reassignment surgery fell within that exclusion, in compliance with the Eighth Circuit’s admonition in *Pinneke*. (App’x. Vol. II at 280-84). The Department did so only after a comprehensive review of the prevailing medical knowledge. *Id.* These changes constitute the basis of Petitioners’ challenge to Iowa Admin. Code r. 441-78.1(4) (the “Rule”), which provides in relevant part:

**78.1(4)** For the purposes of this program, cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery is surgery which can be expected primarily to improve physical appearance or which is performed primarily for psychological purposes.... Surgeries for the purpose of sex reas-

signment are not considered as restoring bodily function and are excluded from coverage.

*a.* Coverage under the program is generally not available for cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery...

*See also* Iowa Admin. Code rr. 441-78.1(4)“b”(2) (excluding surgeries for certain conditions, including “transsexualism” and “gender identity disorder”), 441-78.1(4)“d”(15)-(17) (specifically excluding “sex reassignment,” “penile implant procedures,” and “insertion of prosthetic testicles”).

In 2001, this amended rule was challenged once again in *Rasmussen II*. The Eighth Circuit considered whether the Rule was “arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with the law.” *Rasmussen II*, 249 F.3d at 760. The court found that the Rule was “both reasonable and consistent with the Medicaid Act.” *Id.* at 761. The Rule remains in effect, substantially the same as it was upon enactment in 1994.

## **II. Similarly Situated Medicaid Beneficiaries Are Treated Alike Under the Rule.**

### **A. Preservation of Error.**

The Department preserved error on this issue by raising it in briefing to the district court. The district court subsequently decided and ruled upon this issue. (App’x. Vol. I at 216-19); (App’x. Vol. I at 292-97).

## **B. Scope and Standard of Review**

This Court's review of constitutional issues raised in a Petition for Judicial review is *de novo*. *Tyler v. Iowa Dep't. of Revenue*, 904 N.W.2d 162, 166 (Iowa 2017).

The judicial review provisions of the Administrative Procedure Act are the exclusive means for judicial review of administrative agency action. Iowa Code § 17A.19; *see also Norland v. Iowa Dep't of Job Service*, 412 N.W.2d 904, 908 (Iowa 1987). When exercising the power of judicial review under Iowa Code § 17A.19, the district court functions in an appellate capacity to correct errors of law. *Ludtke v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 62, 64-65 (Iowa 2002). Grounds for relief are specified in section 17A.19(10). The burden is on the petitioner to identify and establish the grounds for relief alleged. Iowa Code § 17A.19(8)(a). Where interpretation of the law has not been vested in the discretion of an agency, legal issues are subject to *de novo* review. *Bearinger v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 844 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2014).

## **C. Transgender Medicaid Beneficiaries Are Similarly Situated To, and Treated the Same As, All Other Medicaid Beneficiaries.**

Transgender Medicaid beneficiaries are given the same access to services, benefits, advantages, and obligations under Iowa Medicaid as non-transgender Medicaid beneficiaries to whom they are similarly situated. For the reasons provided below, the Rule in no way places transgender Medicaid beneficiaries into a

class, nor does the Rule, facially or in practice, disadvantage transgender Medicaid beneficiaries.

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