Supreme Court No. 18–1158  
Polk County Case Nos. CVCV054956 & CVCV055470 (cons.)

---

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA**

---

EERIEANNA GOOD and CAROL BEAL,

Petitioners–Appellees,

v.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES,

Respondent–Appellant.

---

Appeal from the Iowa District Court for Polk County  
Honorable Arthur E. Gamble

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONERS–APPELLEES**

---

Rita Bettis Austen, AT0011558  
**ACLU of Iowa Foundation Inc.**  
505 Fifth Avenue, Ste. 808  
Des Moines, IA 50309-2317  
Telephone: 515-207-0567  
Facsimile: 515-243-8506  
rita.bettis@aclu-ia.org

John Knight, PHV001725  
**ACLU Foundation  
LGBT & HIV Project**  
150 North Michigan Ave., Ste. 600

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

revision surgery will attempt to minimize a scar so that it is less conspicuous and blends in with the surrounding skin tone and texture.”).

*Fifth*, the history behind the language of the Regulation explicitly barring coverage for surgical treatment for “transsexualism” and “gender identity disorder” clearly illustrates that the Regulation’s purpose is to exclude coverage for gender-dysphoria treatment, rather than to uniformly bar coverage for surgeries for psychological treatment. In November 1994, DHS began rulemaking to “exclude[] Medicaid coverage for sex reassignment surgery.” (App.2 280.) It did so following the Eighth Circuit’s decision in *Pinneke v. Preisser*, 623 F.2d 546 (8th Cir. 1980), finding that “sex reassignment was an effective treatment for transsexualism and the only effective treatment available.” (*Id.* 281.) After that decision, a 1991 claim for coverage for “sex reassignment procedures” was “initially denied based on the state administrative rule’s general exclusion of cosmetic, reconstructive, or plastic surgery for psychological purposes” but then was *allowed* after “determin[ing] that the intent of the current rule was to allow payment for sex reassignment.” (*Id.*) The addition of explicit language to deny coverage for “sex reassignment procedures” and “gender identity disorders” resulted from DHS’s 1994 rulemaking to “reevaluat[e] . . . its policy on sex reassignment surgery”—an unambiguous effort to circumvent *Pinneke*. (*Id.*)

DHS's assertion that the Regulation's exclusion of surgical treatment for gender dysphoria is the result of a generally applicable test excluding care for "psychological purposes" is thus belied by (1) the actual basis on which the Regulation was applied to Petitioners; (2) the Regulation's explicit ban on coverage for surgery to treat gender dysphoria; (3) the evidence showing that (a) gender identity and gender dysphoria are immutable and may have biological bases, and (b) gender-affirming surgery addresses the ways in which a person's body fails to conform with his or her gender identity to lessen or cure the dysfunction, pain, and even death that can result from untreated gender dysphoria; (4) the Regulation's allowance of various other surgeries "for psychological purposes"; and (5) the history of the Regulation. All of this is included in the record; DHS has failed to challenge it by offering any contrary evidence.

**B. DHS is a "state . . . government unit," and therefore a "public accommodation," under ICRA.**

DHS's proposed interpretation of the Act is based on the false premise that a "public accommodation" can only be a physical place, establishment, or facility. (Br. 30–40.) This restrictive reading of the Act ignores its plain language and disregards well-established principles of statutory construction. And it also ignores the physical involvement of DHS's Des Moines office in



denying Petitioners' requests for Medicaid coverage. The district court correctly rejected DHS's reading of the Act. (App.1 287–90.)

**1. The term “unit” does not denote a physical facility.**

An undefined statutory term, such as “state . . . government unit,” must be afforded its “plain and rational meaning.” *Carolan v. Hill*, 553 N.W.2d 882, 887 (Iowa 1996). To do so, Iowa courts frequently look to an undefined term's dictionary definition. *See, e.g., State v. Pettijohn*, 899 N.W.2d 1, 16 (Iowa 2017).

Merriam–Webster's online dictionary defines “unit,” in most relevant part, as “a single thing, person, or group that is a constituent of a whole” or “a piece or complex of apparatus serving to perform one particular function.” *Dictionary by Merriam–Webster*, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/unit>. This definition encompasses individual government agencies or entities such as DHS. An agency is “a single thing . . . that is a constituent of a whole” state government. *Id.* It is also “a piece” of the “apparatus” of state government that “serv[es] to perform [the] particular function” of administering the programs and services that fall within its purview. *Id.*

Of the eleven possible definitions of “unit” offered by Merriam–Webster's online dictionary, only one—“an area in a medical facility and

especially a hospital that is specially staffed and equipped to provide a particular type of care,” such as “an intensive care unit”—implies a physical facility of any kind. *Id.* Interpreting “state . . . government unit[s]” under Section 216.2(13)(b) of ICRA to include only physical facilities would require reading a limitation into the statutory language that is not supported by the plain meaning of the words chosen by the legislature. This is impermissible. *Cubit v. Mahaska County*, 677 N.W.2d 777, 782 (Iowa 2004) (courts have “no power to read a limitation into [a] statute that is not supported by the words chosen by the general assembly”); *Miller v. Marshall County*, 641 N.W.2d 742, 748 (Iowa 2002) (same).

Other references to the word “unit” within different parts of ICRA are irrelevant. (Br. 35–37.) ICRA does not define “unit”; it simply uses the term to describe the meaning of a “[c]overed multifamily dwelling.” Iowa Code § 216.2(4) (2018). Nothing about this usage informs or limits the definition of “government unit,” a separate and independent term utilized in a different section of the Act. *See* Iowa Code § 216.2(13)(b) (2018) (defining “public accommodation” to include a “state . . . government unit”); *State ex rel. Claypool v. Evans*, 757 N.W.2d 166 (Iowa 2008) (utilizing the term “unit” relative to a housing-discrimination claim under ICRA, not ICRA’s public-accommodation provisions).

**2. The doctrine of *noscitur a sociis* supports Petitioners’ interpretation of “unit.”**

The doctrine of *noscitur a sociis*, properly applied, further supports interpreting “unit” as something broader than a physical facility. Under that doctrine, which Iowa courts often invoke in ascertaining a term’s plain meaning, “the meanings of particular words may be indicated or controlled by associated words.” *Porter v. Harden*, 891 N.W.2d 420, 425 (Iowa 2017); *Des Moines Flying Serv., Inc. v. Aerial Servs., Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 212, 221 (Iowa 2016).

Here, Section 216.2(13)(b) of ICRA states that “public accommodation” includes “each state and local government *unit* or tax-supported *district*.” Iowa Code § 216.2(13)(b) (2018) (emphasis added). The term “district” denotes, in relevant part, “a territorial division” or “an area, region, or section with a distinguishing character.” *Dictionary by Merriam–Webster*, <http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/district>. Contrary to DHS’s contention (Br. 34–35), a “district” is not a physical facility; it is a more generalized “division” or “section,” such as a division or section of government administered by the state or one of its localities. By association with the word “district,” the word “unit” should be interpreted as something broader than a physical facility.

**3. Even under a restrictive interpretation of ICRA, DHS qualifies as a “public accommodation.”**

In any event, even if “state . . . government unit[s]” were limited to physical facilities, DHS would still qualify as a “public accommodation.”

First, DHS has multiple physical offices across the State of Iowa. *See* Iowa Dep’t of Human Servs., *DHS Offices Map*, [https://dhs.iowa.gov/dhs\\_office\\_locator](https://dhs.iowa.gov/dhs_office_locator). At least one of those offices was involved in denying Medicaid benefits to Petitioners. (App.1 83, ¶ 14; App.1 174, ¶ 14; App.2 69–71; App.2 443–47.) Petitioners were therefore subject to a discriminatory practice by an agent or employee of DHS operating out of a DHS facility—i.e., a “state . . . government unit”—when DHS denied them Medicaid coverage based on their gender identity. These circumstances satisfy even DHS’s proposed restrictive definition of “public accommodation” under Section 216.2(13)(b) of ICRA.

Second, DHS satisfies the definition of “public accommodation” set forth in Section 216.2(13)(a) of the Act. Under that provision, “public accommodation[s]” expressly include “facilit[ies] . . . that offer services to . . . nonmembers [of any organization or association] gratuitously . . . if the accommodation receives governmental support or subsidy.” Iowa Code § 216.2(13)(a) (2018).

DHS operates “facilities” throughout the State of Iowa that “offer services” to members of the public “gratuitously,” such as Medicaid. (App.1 83, ¶ 14; App.1 174, ¶ 14.) And those facilities “receive[] governmental support or subsidy” in that they are funded by the State of Iowa. (App.1 83, ¶ 15; App.1 174, ¶ 15.) Therefore, even under Section 216.2(13)(a)’s definition of “public accommodation,” the director of DHS and his staff, as “employee[s] or agent[s]” of DHS, were prohibited from discriminating based on gender identity in administering the Iowa Medicaid program from an office of the Iowa state government. *Cf.* Letter from Attorney General, 1972 WL 262259 (Feb. 2, 1972) (even private club may become “public accommodation” if it receives government support or subsidy).

It is, moreover, immaterial that Petitioners were not denied physical access to DHS’s office facility. Section 216.2(13)(a) covers the denial of *services* administered by a public facility, as multiple courts have acknowledged. *Torres v. N. Fayette Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 600 F. Supp. 2d 1026, 1031 (N.D. Iowa 2008) (public-accommodation discrimination involves denial of “the use of a public facility *or the services or privileges of a public facility*”) (emphasis added); *Kirt v. Fashion Bug #3253, Inc.*, 479 F. Supp. 2d 938, 963 (N.D. Iowa 2007) (prima facie case exists if plaintiff “sought to enjoy the accommodations, advantages, facilities, *services, or privileges* of a ‘public

accommodation”’) (emphasis added). DHS’s conduct falls within the scope of Section 216.2(13)(a).

DHS argues that it is “a state agency that . . . is not confined to or defined by a physical locale.” (Br. 34.) This argument misconstrues the record and Petitioners’ interpretations of Sections 216.2(13)(a) and (b) of ICRA. This is not, as DHS mistakenly contends, a situation where the alleged discrimination is untethered to a “physical locale.” (*Id.*) On the contrary, it is evident, that DHS’s Des Moines office, and personnel from that office, were involved in Petitioners’ Medicaid denials. (App.1 83, ¶ 14; App.1 174, ¶ 14; App.2 69–71; App.2 443–47.) So, too, for that matter, were the ALJs who recommended the denials to DHS from their state offices in Des Moines. (App.2 138–44; App.2 535–43.) These decisions did not simply materialize from thin air; they were made and implemented at discrete, tangible locations. (App.2 70 (decision issued from “1305 E. Walnut Street, Des Moines, IA”); App.2 138 (decision issued from “Wallace State Office Building, Des Moines, Iowa”).) Although DHS seeks to distance itself from physical, onsite involvement in discriminatory conduct, it cannot do so.

**4. DHS’s interpretation of ICRA violates other well-established principles of statutory construction.**

DHS’s interpretation of “public accommodation” is problematic for several other reasons as well.

**a. DHS’s interpretation of ICRA renders key statutory language superfluous.**

DHS’s interpretation of “public accommodation” focuses on Section 216.2(13)(a) of ICRA, which states that “‘public accommodation’ means each and every place, establishment, or facility of whatever kind, nature, or class that . . . offers services” to the public. Iowa Code § 216.2(13)(a) (2018). (Br. 31–33.) Emphasizing this component of the public-accommodation definition to the exclusion of the provision that includes “state . . . government unit[s]” renders the latter superfluous. Iowa Code § 216.2(13)(b) (2018). Specifically, if, as DHS suggests, Section 216.2(13)(b) of ICRA merely functions as a subset of Section 216.2(13)(a), then Section 216.2(13)(b) has no independent meaning.

As this Court has repeatedly emphasized, courts must “not construe a statute to make any part of it superfluous.” *In re Chapman*, 890 N.W.2d 853, 857 (Iowa 2017); *Civil Serv. Comm’n v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 522 N.W.2d 82, 86 (Iowa 1994). On the contrary, they must “presume the legislature included all parts of the statute for a purpose . . . [to] avoid reading the statute in a way that would make any portion of it redundant or irrelevant.” *Chapman*, 890 N.W.2d at 857 (quotation marks omitted); *Ramirez-Trujillo v. Quality Egg, LLC*, 878 N.W.2d 759, 770 (Iowa 2016). DHS’s interpretation of “public accommodation” is improper.

**b. DHS fails to broadly construe ICRA.**

Additionally, DHS’s interpretation of “public accommodation” runs afoul of the clear statement of legislative intent that ICRA “shall be broadly construed to effectuate its purpose.” Iowa Code § 216.18(1) (2018). This Court has held that “[a]n Iowa court faced with competing legal interpretations of . . . [ICRA] must keep in mind the legislative direction of broadly interpreting the Act when choosing among plausible legal alternatives.” *Pippen v. State*, 854 N.W.2d 1, 28 (Iowa 2014); *see also Probasco v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 420 N.W.2d 432, 435 (Iowa 1988) (remedial legislation is to “be construed liberally”).

Here, for the reasons discussed above, the only plausible interpretation of “public accommodation” includes DHS, a “state . . . government unit.” Yet, even assuming DHS’s restrictive interpretation of Section 216.2(13)(b) of the Act were a “plausible legal alternative[.]” (which it is not), Petitioners’ interpretation must be adopted to ensure that the Act is “broadly construed.” Iowa Code § 216.18(1) (2018); *Pippen*, 854 N.W.2d at 28.

**c. DHS misreads ICRA’s legislative history.**

Finally, DHS misreads ICRA’s legislative history, which supports Petitioners’ reading of the Act. (Br. 38–39.)



When ICRA was enacted in 1965, it replaced a previous Iowa civil-rights statute that contained language similar to the federal Civil Rights Act of 1964. Under the federal Civil Rights Act, the definition of “public accommodation” is significantly narrower and much more focused on discrimination regarding the goods, services, and facilities provided at certain specific physical locations. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 2000a(b).

Under ICRA’s predecessor, as under the federal Civil Rights Act, all persons within the State of Iowa were “entitled to the full and equal enjoyment of the accommodations, advantages, facilities, and privileges of inns, restaurants, chop-houses, eating houses, lunch counters, and all other places where refreshments are served, public conveyances, barbershops, bathhouses, theaters, and all other places of amusement.” Iowa Code § 735.1 (1962) (current version at Iowa Code § 216.7 (2018)).

ICRA’s old language was similar to the federal statute in that it listed facilities constituting public accommodations instead of defining “public accommodation” in general terms. *Compare id. with* 42 U.S.C. § 2000a(b). This language, however, was abandoned by the Iowa legislature, which opted for the provision now in effect because of a concern that the prior provision would be interpreted narrowly to exclude all establishments not explicitly listed in the statute, such as banks, gas stations, and doctor’s offices. The

legislature chose less restrictive language. *See U.S. Jaycees v. Iowa Civil Rights Comm’n*, 427 N.W.2d 450, 454–55 (Iowa 1988). ICRA’s legislative history therefore supports a *broader* interpretation of “public accommodation,” not a narrower one.

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